


National Centre for Arts and Music Education Procurement: 
Market Engagement Clarification Questions
Commercial 
1. What is the budget for the National Centre?
Funding for the National Centre will be confirmed when the Invitation to Tender is published.
2. How long will the contract term be?
We anticipate the contact will be for an initial period of 3 years from September 2026 and the Department will have the option to extend, within particular limits. Details will be set out in the Invitation to Tender.
3. Will there be any eligibility criteria or requirements to accept a contract of this size and to distribute funding?
The Department aims to support arrangements that make participation in the competition accessible. Full details of our requirements and any organisational eligibility requirements will be issued at the Invitation to Tender stage on Jaggaer, in what are called the Technical and Qualification Envelopes. 
Organisations will need to register on the Central Digital Platform before they are able to bid, as they will need to enter the ‘Share Code’ on Jaggaer. Further details on this process can be found here: Central Digital Platform - factsheet (HTML) - GOV.UK.  
4. Will the Department for Education create a directory of interested suppliers and their contact information to enable consortium formations and partner discussion?
The Department has issued an Expressions of Interest form for any organisation to share their organisation name, contact name and email address so they can be contacted by other potential partners. The form includes questions about this matter. Following the initial Expression of Interest deadline of Thursday 24 July, we will share a list of prospective bidders interested in forming consortia via our e-tendering platform, Jaggaer, so that organisations can contact potential partners themselves.
5. Can you still express an interest in being part of a consortium if you intend to lead the bid?
You can indicate in the Expression of Interest form that your organisation is open to consortium bid, including your preference to lead a consortium bid and/or be part of a consortium led by another organisation. 
6. How established will partnerships or consortiums need to be at the point of bidding?
Existing National Centres varied in how well established their partnerships were at the point of bidding. The Expression of Interest form includes questions that enable organisations open to consortium bidding to share their contact information with other prospective bidders via Jaggaer.
Where a Consortium is formed, one of its members should be nominated as the Lead Supplier. If the Consortium legally exists, then the Consortium should lead and complete their tender using its name and ‘voice’ (except where the procurement documents specifically state otherwise e.g. for financial standing evaluation). If the Consortium does not yet exist, then their tender should include the nominated lead member to complete the Procurement Specific Questions (PSQ) response, and this organisation will be designated the Lead Supplier. This will all be set out in the Invitation to Tender. 
The Lead Supplier will then be the treated as the Potential Supplier by the Department for the purposes of this PSQ and when communicating with the Consortium. The Lead Supplier shall be the representative for the other members that form the Consortium and shall be responsible for the preparation and submission of the PSQ response. PSQ responses must be signed by the Lead Supplier.
7. Will bidding as part of a consortium increase the likelihood of a successful bid?
Consortium bids are welcome but will not be given any specific preference. All bids, whether from a single organisation or a consortium, will be assessed against the same evaluation criteria, which will be published with the Invitation to Tender documentation.
8. Will consortium bids need to have a designated lead partner responsible for due diligence such as compliance with government grant-making standards?
A consortium must have a lead partner, as the contract will be held with one legal entity. The consortium must also establish clear internal arrangements, which will be subject to scrutiny.
Continuing Professional Development (CPD)
9. How does the intention deliver a new online CPD offer sit with the expanding use of AI and perceived notion that teachers attending online CPD tends to be a shrinking market?
The role of AI tools in enhancing CPD is still emerging, but potential bidders may wish to make themselves aware of its potential, particularly in areas like content curation and personalised learning.
While online CPD offers valuable flexibility for time-pressed teachers, the National Centre will not be limited to this model. Instead, it will be expected to draw on evidence – including the Effective Professional Development guidance and tools published by the Education Endowment Foundation – and consider blended approaches that best support teacher development, acknowledging both opportunities and barriers to access. Bidders should also be mindful of the Department for Education’s Standard for teachers’ professional development guidance. 
10. How will the National Centre’s CPD offer align with the ongoing Curriculum and Assessment Review and existing investments in Oak National Academy resources, to ensure joined up thinking across these initiatives?
The Curriculum and Assessment review’s final report and government response is due out this autumn and will set out intended changes to the national curriculum and possibly qualifications. Any changes to these will need to be consulted on, and this will take time.  
Academies will be required to teach the reformed national curriculum. This will give everyone certainty on a child’s curriculum entitlement, including their entitlement to the arts subjects, and a central purpose of the National Centre will be about supporting schools to make a reality of this entitlement.
The National Centre’s CPD offer will therefore need to be designed with flexibility to align with upcoming changes to the national curriculum and to any possible qualification changes. While curriculum reforms will take time and require consultation, CPD development will continue in the interim to support teaching. 
We anticipate that the Centre will be expected to develop a partnership with Oak National Academy, noting plans for their role in relation to the reformed national curriculum are to be confirmed in due course. 
11. Do you envisage that the National Centre will create and delivery most of its CPD content itself – like some National Centres for other subjects do – or would the National Centre also host courses developed by other organisations?
We will expect the National Centre to both create and curate CPD content. While it will develop some of its own resources – including a new online CPD offer for primary and secondary school teachers – it will also draw on, quality-assure and promote existing provision from other organisations, including Music Hub partners. The successful bidder will determine how content is developed – whether in-house, commissioned, or through partnerships. It will be for bidders to assess how to balance time and resource between creating new content and curating existing provision. Given the breadth of arts subjects involved, collaborative approaches may be necessary. This flexible model aligns with how other National Centres operate.
12. Are there approaches already being used by the existing national centres to encourage take up of the CPD offer? Will there be any ways DfE can encourage take up if that is part of the Centre's KPIs?
The National Centre will draw on lessons from existing nation centres in mathematics, computing and languages, including the approaches to KPIs.
Curriculum
13. What will the relationship be between the National Centre and the PE curriculum around dance, given that dance is not a subject in its own right within the national curriculum but an activity within the PE curriculum?
Dance is confirmed as one of the four core art forms supported by the National Centre (along with art and design, drama and music) as it is currently part of the national curriculum within the PE curriculum for Key Stages 1-3 and is offered as a recognised qualification at Key Stage 4. The National Centre will therefore consider how to align its work with forthcoming PE and Sport Partnerships to ensure dance remains a key educational and cultural opportunity for young people. 
Any possible changes to the dance curriculum will be subject to the government response to the Curriculum and Assessment Review.
14. Is there any update on reform of EBacc which might help schools to grow their arts offer?
The Curriculum and Assessment Review’s recommendations will inform possible changes to secondary school accountability measures, such as the EBacc suite of measures. The review is considering a wide range of evidence on all curriculum subjects, including arts subjects, as well as matters of curriculum breadth to Key Stage 4.  
15. Do you see part of the arts entitlement for children and young people to be having access to local, regional and national opportunities?
A pupil’s curriculum entitlement relates to what is set out in the national curriculum programmes of study, so this matter would depend on future reforms. That said, access to arts opportunities at local, regional, and national levels is an important part of children and young people's arts education. The National Centre will support this through the priorities to develop sustainable partnerships and promote equitable access to arts education.
Evaluation
16. Has the DfE established any metrics for success that will be used to hold the Centre to account against those priorities that have been set or any way to measure impact?
Metrics underpinning Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) will be framed around the delivery and impact of the priorities set out for the National Centre: supporting excellent teaching, developing sustainable partnerships and promoting arts education. 
We are considering metrics for the National Centre and these will be published as part of the Invitation to Tender documentation. We aim to ensure metrics support accountability without creating excessive administrative burden. 
17. Will you ensure Key Performance Indicators allow enough time for the Centre to establish itself and test and develop before measuring impact?
The intention is for the National Centre to be a long-term programme. Our aim is for it to build on the legacy of past arts education programmes and learn from them. Certain parts of its remit will come to fruition relatively quickly, such as becoming the national delivery partner for Music Hubs and the establishment of a CPD offer to support excellent teaching. Other priorities will require more time to create an impact. The KPIs for the National Centre will reflect this.
18. Can you talk more about the balance expected between music vs art vs dance education? What KPIs are likely to be there on that balance?
The intention is for the National Centre to support schools to make a reality of the arts curriculum entitlement in four subjects: art and design, dance, drama and music. Each of them is different in many ways and the level and nature of support will vary from subject to subject, and from the primary to the secondary phases. 
We are still considering how best to reflect the extent of emphasis on each of these subject and how this is best reflected in the KPIs.
Music Hubs
19. How will the fundholder role for Music Hubs fits into the National Centre's priorities?
The National Centre's priorities are to support excellent teaching, develop sustainable partnerships and promote arts education and Music Hubs will be central to this. The National Centre will be the national delivery partner for the Music Hubs programme. We therefore envisage that the 43 hub partnerships will be integral to the delivery of the National Centre's priorities in relation to music education in schools.
20. Music Hubs have been through a significant change in recent years. Do you envisage any further significant changes to their brief and or the way that they're organised?
We acknowledge that most Music Hubs have been through a period of change with the restructure of hub partnerships from September 2024. We have no plans to change the partnership arrangements that were put in place. We are considering how the National Centre can address some of the barriers Music Hubs currently face. For example, we heard in early engagement that Hubs see the launch of the National Centre as an opportunity to reduce bureaucracy. 
Overall, we are seeking to establish a period of stability for Music Hubs. Any future changes to the programme will be informed by the three-year national evaluation of hubs, which is being led by the National Centre for Social Research and which commenced last year.
21. Currently, Music Hubs are mandated to work with schools, but schools are not mandated to work with Music Hubs, which has sometimes led to difficulties. Will the National Centre change or address this?
The expectation is that schools deliver a high-quality arts curriculum as part of the arts entitlement set out in the National Curriculum. The National Centre will support schools in making a reality of this entitlement, including by working with the Music Hub network where appropriate.
There is no intention to place statutory requirements on schools to work with Music Hubs or any other external bodies. Schools have never been mandated to engage with other subject hubs, and that remains the case. It was also not the case that schools were mandated to work with Local Authority music services prior to the introduction of Music Hubs in 2012. 
22. How does the previous government's National Plan for Music Education fit into this work?
The previous government’s National Plan for Music Education, published in 2022, set out expectations on schools to put in place music development plans as well as a restructure of the Music Hub programme. These changes and others were subsequently implemented. The Music Hubs programme is being evaluated by the National Centre for Social Research to assess the impact of the hub reforms. Any future steps will be informed by this evaluation.
Partnerships
23. How do you see the National Centre engaging with the creative industries sector e.g. identifying skills gaps, developing future employment opportunities for young people, and supporting the value of the creative industries sector more generally?
There are clear benefits of a high-quality arts education for supporting young people to work in the creative industries, noting as well that the creative industries are one of eight growth sectors that are part of the Industrial Strategy, published recently. 
This is why the National Centre’s third priority to promote arts education includes signposting to industry-backed careers guidance. We are also currently working with DCMS on how the work of the National Centre interacts with the Discover! Creative Careers programme, which has been in place for a number of years and includes an offer to both students and parents. 
Creating pathways to the creative industries is not, however, the primary purpose of arts education in schools. The primary purpose is to support the cultural development of pupils, and prepare them for the of opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of later life. The National Centre will therefore be primarily focused on supporting high-quality arts teaching in schools and developing sustainable partnerships between schools and cultural organisations with a track record in arts education.  
Are there any existing models/good examples of collaboration between the DfE, schools and the cultural sector?
There is a variety of existing evidence on the extent to which different models of collaboration have succeeded. We would expect bidders to demonstrate an understanding of existing evidence and best practice on partnerships and collaboration in order to explain their approach as a prospective National Centre delivery partner. In our market warming information sessions, we referenced Local Cultural Education Partnerships (LCEPs) and the former Bridge Network as two examples of programmes that bidders can learn from.
24. What scope is there for multi-agency work/partnerships at the National Centre beyond schools and the cultural sector e.g. involvement from health and well-being or other third sector organisations?
The National Centre will focus primarily on making a reality of children and young people's arts entitlement ensuring access to high-quality arts education, and this in turn includes through sustainable partnerships between schools and cultural organisations. Bidders can determine which organisations to partner with in order to achieve this.
25. Do you envisage that the Centre will work in a way to help to sustain the existing ecology of Local Cultural Education Partnerships (LCEPs) i.e. where LCEPs continue to provide that local strategic collaboration and leadership?
We recognise the need to learn from and build on the existing wider ecology for arts education, particularly to meet local needs. We anticipate that the National Centre will take steps to establish relationships will relevant organisations in the current ecosystem and that bidders will set out their thinking on how to support and work collaboratively with a variety of partners. This could include Local Cultural Education Partnerships.
Scope
26. How will the National Centre relate to existing vocational training schemes like the Music and Dance Scheme? Will the National Centre have any responsibility for administering or signposting to these schemes? 
The government is committed to supporting specialist education in the creative sector, including through the Music and Dance Scheme (MDS). We are carefully considering the relationship between the National Centre and the education providers that offer MDS bursaries, but there is currently no plan for the Centre to deliver the scheme.
27. Will initial teacher training (ITT) be in scope?
We do not envisage a specific role for the Nationale Centre in relation to initial teach training (ITT) although there is potential scope for the centre to develop partnerships with key ITT providers in primary and specialist arts teaching.
28. Will early years be in scope?
Early years education will not fall within the scope of the National Centre. The National Centre will focus on making a reality of children and young people's arts entitlement within the national curriculum, which sets out the programmes of study for Key Stages 1 to 4.
29. Which artforms will fall into scope for the National Centre? Will design and technology or film be included?
The National Centre will focus on four arts subjects as defined within the national curriculum: art and design, dance, drama, and music. These are the subjects that form the basis of children and young people’s arts curriculum entitlement to arts education in schools, and the National Centre’s priorities and activities will be aligned accordingly. Other subjects such as design and technology and film studies will fall outside the scope of the National Centre. However, the Centre may engage with a broad range of cultural and creative organisations where relevant, particularly in supporting partnerships and promoting progression opportunities.
30. Is there any possibility of changing the name of the National Centre? The name creates a hierarchy between music and other artforms. 
The title for the National Cente may be subject to change. We are considering whether an alternative title may be more apt. If the title it is to change, this will be stated in the tender document, including potentially inviting bidders’ own proposals for a title.  


Q&A’S ADDED 30/09/25
31. How established will partnerships or consortiums need to be at the point of bidding?   
The organisations that were successful in securing a contract as Lead Supplier for the existing National Centres varied in how well established their Consortium partnerships were at the point of bidding. There are also no specific DfE requirements on how such partnerships are secured or agreed between a Lead Supplier and their Consortium partners. An organisation leading a Consortium may, however, wish to undertake their own due diligence as to whether there are specific conditions for formalising any such partnership arrangements, including checking with any parent bodies that holds any governance and oversight relationship. 
The Expression of Interest survey conducted in the summer included questions that enable organisations open to consortium bidding to share their contact information with other prospective bidders via Jaggaer.  Where a Consortium is formed, one of its members should be nominated as the Lead Supplier. If the Consortium legally exists, then the Consortium should lead and complete their tender using its name and ‘voice’ (except where the procurement documents specifically state otherwise e.g. for financial standing evaluation). If the Consortium does not yet legally exist, then their tender should include the nominated lead member to complete the Procurement Specific Questions (PSQ) response, and this organisation will be designated the Lead Supplier. This will all be set out in the Invitation to Tender.  The Lead Supplier will then be the treated as the Potential Supplier by the Department for the purposes of this PSQ and when communicating with the Consortium. The Lead Supplier shall be the representative for the other members that form the Consortium and shall be responsible for the preparation and submission of the PSQ response. PSQ responses must be signed by the Lead Supplier. 

32. Will the contract value be exclusive of VAT?
Yes. The lifetime contract value that will be outlined in the specification will be exclusive of VAT. The total value of bids from prospective suppliers should also be submitted excluding VAT. However, we expect to see in the cost breakdowns where VAT will be charged and it remains the responsibility of bidders to check the VAT position with HMRC before submitting a bid.

33. Are there plans the Music Hubs programme will be expanded to cover art and design, drama and dance or that new hub networks will be established for each of those subjects?
The Department does not plan to expand the Music Hub programme to take on a wider arts remit. In addition, we have no plans to establish new hub networks for each of the art and design, dance and/or drama. 
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